Authority and ControlPRIVATE 


The first few days of what a contemporary termed, and which sounds ironic in retrospect, "die größte aller Revolutionen," went remarkably well for a worried Ebert.
  Obtaining power, limiting revolt and keeping the machinery of state running were undertaken to assure an armistice, to demobilize troops and to maintain food as well as coal supplies.  Aligning institutions behind the government to strengthen a weakened state -- those amounted to significant short term gains.  The large questions had been set aside and eventually the SPD would pay the price of having helped to re-establish the authority of institutions from whose heads it obtained few guarantees about future behavior.  However, the ability to contain and control, to re-establish and to operate must be acknowledged.  


Ebert had sought power to contain revolution, to make peace and to achieve democracy.  The priority placed upon containment eventually had to affect and limit the democratic transformation.  Alternatives to Ebert's approach had at the moment of the overthrow been possible, but with the agreements of the first days the SPD cemented its evolutionary course aimed at strengthening of the state, establishing parliamentary as opposed to council democracy and achieving social reform as opposed to socialist transformation.  To realize any other alternative the Independents and revolutionaries would have had to displace Ebert and his colleagues.
  Instead, they unintentionally tolerated the continuation of the SPD's wartime strategy of secret cooperation combined with the public stance advocating democratic and social reform.  As in the party fights, Ebert's short term political astuteness outdistanced Haase's.  In the long run national-territorial issues, the nature of the state plus SPD relations to the bourgeoisie would divide the SPD from the USPD.  The war had set the pattern and the values for the revolution which the first weeks hid.


During most of November Ebert and his colleagues tried to resolve immediate problems and some of those they addressed well.  He immediately moved to manage information by instructions to a new head for an Informationsstelle der Reichsregierung.  The office's task included "Die Reichsregierung über alles für sie Wissenwerte zu informieren" by gathering and sorting and directing the pertinent materials.
   By November 14 the cabinet announced the state secretaries and undersecretaries; the former comprised mostly bourgeois officials and continued from Prince Max (Solf, Schiffer, August Müller, Koeth, Wurm, Bauer, Scheuch, von Mann, Krause, Rüdlin) and the latter from Social Democracy and its partners (David, Schmidt, Giesberts).
  The new 'chancellor' manoeuvred through many disputes and conflicts, as he had in January 1918.  To illustrate: the Vollzugsrat had proclaimed the building of a "Rote Garde" on November 12 but next day temporarily rescinded the proclamation under pressure from SPD members.
  On the evening of November 14 Ebert and Wels attended the meeting of the greater Berlin Soldatenrat and announced the Vollzugsrat would not be building a "Rote Garde" and officers continued to help keep order.  Ebert's remarks at that meeting confirm his original preoccupations with immediate problems, but also with German strength: "Bei der raschen Demobilisierung, zu der uns der Feind gezwungen hat, reichen unsere Verkehrsmittel tatsachlich nicht aus, um unsere Soldaten rechtzeitig zurückzuführen.  Und so ist an der Front ein Chaos entstanden.  Dadurch ist es gekommen, daß in Baden und Württemberg zurückflutende Truppen bereits eine große Gefahr für die innere Sicherheit darstellen.  Wir müssen unser Gebiet intakt halten, und zwar deshalb, weil wir jetzt schnellsten die Organisation unserer Ernährung in die Hand nehmen müssen.  Wir müssen dafür Sorge tragen, daß unsere öffentlichen Gebaude sowie Leben und Eigentum des Volkes geschützt sind.  Wenn es uns gelingt, das alles in sechs bis acht Wochen durchzuführen, dann ist das neue Deutschland gerettet.  Dann haben wir auch noch Aussicht, wenigstens einigermassen günstige Friedensbedingungen durchzusetzen.  Wenn der Gegner aber sieht, daß bei uns Anarchie herrscht, dann wird es uns Bedingungen diktieren, die das deutsche Wirtschaftsleben vollständig vernichten."
  The soldiers' meeting created a group to protect property and took a stand against Liebknecht's agitation in the barracks.  With support from the unions, whose leaders on November 14 had announced in favor of a national assembly, Ebert gave a statement to the press on November 15 that the SPD cabinet members "sind fest entschlossen, die Konstituante so schnell wie irgend möglich einzuberufen."
   The concern to establish a legal basis for the government worried Ebert in other ways.  He wanted officials from the old regime to convince the Kaiser to put out a decree releasing officials from their oath of loyalty and he wanted an official statement of abdication from him "im Hinblick auf die Unabhängigen, die hinter dem Ausbleiben einer derartigen Erklärung gegenrevolutionäre Ansätze wittern."
  By November 16 an informed observer knew that "die Mehrheitssozialisten in der Regierung die Situation etwas besser finden."

  
The return of normality allowed holding the first cabinet meeting with state secretaries on November 16.
  Ebert let Erzberger explain how the armistice came to be signed, prefacing that little had been negotiable and that Groener had thanked the armistice commission on its return for all it had achieved.   Erzberger went through each article of the terms explaining what material and personnel changes his group had attained and how in artillery, machine guns and U-Boots, the Entente far over-estimated German strength.  


The first payment on the account of cooperation between new cabinet and old officials was already being made: the military representatives had agreed to and were engaged in carrying out the terms Erzberger presented.  Groener noted in his diary on November 15 that 23 trains had moved through in 24 hours.
  The demobilization office under Koeth had adjusted its work in keeping with the cabinet's social program and on November 13 released details of how the communes were to aid the demobilized and unemployed and what Reich monies were available.


In the cabinet session Erzberger noted that though the blockade remained in effect the Entente would allow the supplying of food stuffs.  He suggested holding mass demonstrations to underline that unless foodstuffs came through "unsere Verhältnisse im Innern recht schlecht werden."
  Wurm, the USPD head of the Kriegsernahrungsamt, wanted a concerted effort by industrialists, financiers and Social Democrats with influence and contacts in the US to become active.  According to his information, the Americans were prepared to deliver enough so that a daily calorie intake of 2500 could be achieved.  He thought more had to be requested because it could no longer be assumed that foodstuffs would continue to arrive from the east, especially Posen.  Obtaining and distributing food remained exceedingly difficult, especially since the British, who held Germany blockaded, had told Erzberger that peace was "nicht so eilig".  August Müller pointed out that the Kriegsernahrungsamt, the finance and foreign ministries had already agreed to have a commission in the Haag to deal with the Americans and to aim for 75000 tons per month of fats, 150000 tons of meat and 250000 tons of grains.  The grain office only had flour to last until December.  


The discussion revealed how much the food question remained central to everyone's thinking and that it bridged political differences.  Scheidemann agreed with Erzberger on demonstrations but wanted to deal directly with Wilson's representatives, Hoover and House.  Wurm thought Hoover should come to Berlin "sich von unserer Notlage überzeugte, und gleichzeitig sähe, daß hier Ruhe und Ordnung herrscht."
  Preuß expressed reservations about demonstrations which could turn against the government since "die Feinde sind weit und die Regierung ist nahe."  Ebert seconded him because organizing demonstrations would take too long and be too obvious.  Instead, he thought the press should be employed and people sent to America.  Erzberger agreed that the Zentrale für Heimatdienst would be an appropriate instrument and added that the British had said "wenn wir Lebensmittel haben wollten, müßten die deutsche Schiffe sie herüberholen."  Ebert asked whether the supply depots west of the Rhine could be kept and showed that his wartime work made him one of the experts on food supplies.  This discussion terminated with Ebert's comment that Erzberger and Solf were making preparations for the peace conference.  The exchange has been presented in detail to illustrate that all cabinet members worried about foodstuffs and how to impress the Entente.


The cabinet also considered security in Berlin on November 16.  Barth outlined the manpower needed for police and guard duties, especially at the railway stations to guide returning troops.  Housing and pay continued as serious problems but more difficulty involved provisions since the demands of returning troops could threaten Berlin's supplies.  He spoke on behalf of the Vollzugsrat and outlined the plan to have huge camps just past the armistice lines and to pay soldiers who turned in their Ausrüstung fifty marks.  A "Demobilisierungsfrist von 10 Wochen und mit etwa 6 Millionen Soldaten" to cost 1.6 billion Marks showed the size of this problem.  An employment program of socially useful work was to complement the release of soldiers.  Barth claimed "Überall sind die Arbeiter das beruhigende und die Soldaten das störende Element.  Deshalb muß die Demobilisierung möglichst schnell erfolgen.  Überall muß ein Teil der Truppen zu Ordnungstruppen ausgebildet werden, sowohl zur Sicherung des Staates wie auch zur Sicherung der Errungenschaften der Revolution.  Das Kriegsministerium, das Reichs-Marineamt, das Reichswirtschaftsamt und das Reichser-nahrungsamt müssen umgehend alles tun, was in diesem Sinne notwendig ist.  Bekommen wir die zurückflutenden völlig demoralisierten Truppen, die bei dem geringsten Anlaß zu Meutereien übergehen, nicht fest in die Hand, so ist alles beim Teufel.  Weil dies die wichtigste und brennendste von allen Aufgaben ist, ersuche ich Sie...im Laufe des heutigen Tages...die nötigen Vorbereitungen zu treffen."
  Not only Ebert, but the most radical cabinet member wanted "order" and relied upon the experts.  In response to Barth's proposals Ebert suggested that they had to be checked by the responsible ministries.  Scheuch pointed out that only now had he been contacted by delegates from the Vollzugsrat and for this proposal he did not have sufficient monies.  When the war minister insisted that the Vollzugsrat not formulate resolutions on demobilization without consulting his office, Ebert supported him since "ein örtlicher Ausschuß nicht in die Zentralbefügnisse der Reichsämter eingreifen darf.  Das wäre Desorganisation."  Ebert, who had been shocked at the Vollzugsrat's demands, insisted that executive powers lay with the ministries and the government.  The state secretaries, including Wurm from the USPD, not only supported him but indicated that demobilizations plans were already being acted upon and the councils caused difficulties and endangered food supplies.
  The experts, supported by Ebert, had little patience for the workers' and soldiers' councils' independent efforts.  The question of who had executive power reposed that open issue of legitimacy in revolutionary situations.  


The first serious challenge to Ebert's administration came from the Berlin Vollzugsrat which contained many of the radical Independents, such as Ledebour, and some of the revolutionary factory leaders, such as Richard Müller.  They had a different view of the Vollzugsrat's role than Ebert who privately termed its demands, which included front page coverage for their decisions and limits on who could vote in council elections, "diese Art Einmischung unverantwortlich.  Vollzugsrat verlangt eine Autorität für sich."
  Ebert wanted executive power to reside with the cabinet and the experts without interference.  Some Vollzugsrat members by contrast wanted to be able to oversee not only the cabinet but all Reich offices.  At the meeting of Ebert, Barth and representatives of the war ministry with the Vollzungsrat on the same afternoon as Barth had made his and the Vollzungsrat's proposals, Barth restated the demand for a police and guard troop of 10,000 which would cost 1.6 billion Marks over 10 weeks.  The war minister, who had misgivings, explained how the proposal might be carried out while Schiffer pointed to its financial difficulties and inflationary consequences. The discussion revealed that the Vollzugsrat members wanted their own security troop and higher pay for workers. The minutes recorded "Reichskanzler [sic!] Ebert schlägt vor, einen Unterausschuß zu bilden," which received approval.  Similarly on the "Kompetenzfrage des Arbeiter-und Soldatenrates" Ebert proposed a committee "weil ich wünsche, daß der Unterausschuß noch heute seine Arbeit zum Abschluß bringt."
  He did not get his way and Vollzugsrat members objected to appointments such as Preuß without being consulted.  Ebert explained that "die übrigen Reichsämter in derselben Weise besetzt worden seien.  Die Volksbeauftragten sind berufen, die Reichsregierung zusammenzusetzen."  This reference to how the SPD-USPD cabinet saw its authority did not satisfy the Vollzungsrat and a meeting was scheduled to clarify who held what powers. 


Ebert's own notes on the session, in the presence of the same war minister before whom Ebert and Haase had come to terms on November 10, curtly stated "keine Entscheidung.  Ausschuß auf meinen Vorschlag eingesetzt, der Kompetenzfrage prüfen soll."
  The cabinet minutes of November 18 showed more precisely the contours of the dispute.  To begin, Ebert happily reported that an agreement had been reached about wages, however the issue of authority remained open.  Then Gohre, the SPD representative to the war ministry, tried to provide background.  He explained how he had obtained his post as delegate to Scheuch's office and once in office had had few difficulties with the war ministry. Däumig, the USPD delegate who was supposed to be Gohre's counterpart, had never appeared.  Suddenly two representatives had arrived from the Vollzugsrat, then observers appeared in the departments. "Diese Ernennung ist ohne Rückfrage über unsere Köpfe erfolgt" and increasingly interference had been registered, including dismissals.
  Gohre stated he was neither clear about what these delegates wanted to do nor how they related to him, since he was supposed to be the council's representative.  Ebert expressed surprise at this information.  He claimed that he thought of the Vollzugsrat as a Berlin body to oversee regional organizations.  He challenged their legitimacy: "Wegen eines Eingriffes in die Exekutive der Zentralbehörden ist zwischen uns überhaupt nichts verabredet worden."  He thought it would be a completely impossible situation to have a government by the two parties plus interference from the councils in the ministries "dann kann natürlich eine so große und komplizierte Maschine wie das Reich nicht arbeiten... Wir müssen bestrebt sein, unter den ungeheueren Schwierigkeiten, unter denen wir sonst leiden, die Maschine der Verwaltung, die Maschine der Ernahrung, die Maschine der Rohstoffversorgung aufs Beste funktionieren zu lassen."  His belief in hierarchy expressed itself as "daß eine Organisation nur funktioniert, wenn sie einheitliche Leitung hat..."  He already had a proposal ready for a committee to consider.  


In contrast to Ebert, who wanted no interference in the "Maschine" and evidently trusted the experts, the Vollzugsrat members suggested some officials needed to be watched. Barth only partly supported Ebert with the view that it would cause difficulties if interference occurred.  He argued problems could also arise if the cabinet undertook independent actions because it had been approved by the Zirkus Busch meeting and the results accepted throughout the Reich.  The officials should be glad to have observers for that would reduce mistrust.  Scheuch bluntly stated that councils could represent the interests of employees, but "daß dagegen der Soldatenrat mit den eigentlichen Dingen, den Zwecken des Kriegsministeriums, nichts zu tun hat."
  Against this viewpoint the Vollzugsrat members tried to maintain that they answered appeals from all over the Reich, had had to control the reactionary activities of military officials and Landräte and had to act as a Zentralrat for the country in the absence of one.


Ebert rebutted the attempts to give the Vollzugsrat national significance.  He recalled the "Grundsätze vereinbart" by both ruling parties: "wir bilden paritätisch ein politisches Kabinett und wollten versuchen, zur Aufrechterhaltung des Staatsorganismus die Fachmänner zu halten, wenn sie sich auf unseren Boden stellen wollten.  Den Fachmännern sollten dann zwei Beigeordnete beigegeben werden, von jeder Gruppe einer."
  The cabinet had accepted Däumig from the USPD and agreed to fill posts that became vacant.  Regarding the marine and army officers' authority he pointed out "wir waren in einer Notlage.  Die Ablieferung der Schiffe in so großem Umfang war technisch schwierig und ließ sich ohne Mitwirkung der Offiziere nicht durchführen... Wir mußten dafür sorgen, daß die Fristen innegehalten wurden, damit nicht der Waffenstillstand angekündigt...[würde]"  Similar time limits existed regarding the army and undoubtedly had influenced how Ebert had responded to OHL demands as soon as the armistice was signed.
  Here he added without contradiction from USPD colleagues "Von allen Seiten, auch von den Soldatenräten, ist uns dringend gesagt worden, daß man für diesen Zweck die alten Einrichtungen [nicht] ändern lassen sollte."
  He had personal reports that the guidelines had worked well. Dittmann suggested a committee to find a solution whereas Ledebour began to accuse unnamed persons of trying to deny the German people its rights by calling an early constituent assembly, by fostering the idea that peace became possible only with certain people in the government and by preventing normalization of relations with the Soviets.  Ebert called his bluff and said surely he did not mean anyone present.  When Ledebour persisted, Ebert and Landsberg said that such issues were unrelated to "Kompetenzen".  In the end the meeting struck a committee of five was struck to draft guidelines. 


Ebert knew that the government's authority depended on these guidelines.  When Dittmann reported the committee's results Ebert intervened to point out that the terms did not contain the crucial phrase that executive power ("Vollzugsgewalt") lay with the cabinet.
  Similarly when the Vollzugsrat tried to decree the tasks of the soldiers' councils Ebert insisted that the article referring to Kommandogewalt be substituted by the agreement between the cabinet and the Vollzugsrat which did not specify where Kommandogewalt resided.  Since that agreement transferred executive powers to the cabinet, the issue of military relations, unsupervised by the councils, remained with Ebert in practice.
  With such interventions Ebert assured the cabinet which he led had maximum authority and control.


In this phase of the revolution Ebert accepted the workers' and soldiers' councils, and thought they could help supply food and guidance to returning troops, but he saw no long-term role for them.
  His preference lay with experts who, it appeared, had immediately taken action which fit with the Social Democratic concepts.  On November 21 Ebert informed the cabinet on the state of the troop withdrawal, citing Groener's reports that the middle sector of the army had not yet reached the designated line and many troops would be taken prisoner. "Groener vermutet Böswilligkeit der Franzosen, um Anlaß zum Einmarsch zu haben."
  The demobilization decrees by Koeth and the Arbeitsamt attacked social dislocation and proposed employment possibilities, and many steps were undertaken before the Vollzugsrat became involved.
  Further, the need to be frugal with Reich finances was not an invention of Imperial bureaucrats, but in the interests of Social Democrats to demonstrate good management.  For instance, the costly payment of Reichstag member's fees continued and though the cabinet agreed that the Reichstag should disappear, Ebert did not want to publicize a decision to terminate payment and dissolution without having consulted the states.
   


The division of authority between Vollzugsrat and cabinet supposedly became finalized by November 22.  Ebert and his colleagues recognized the sovereignty of the worker's and soldiers' councils, but with limits. Landsberg specifically acknowledged "die siegreichen Berliner Arbeiter-und Soldatenräte hatten am Abend des Revolutionstages die Macht in Deutschland in der Hand.  Das ist vollkommen unbestreitbar."  "Aber diese Macht besitzen sie nicht auf die Dauer, sondern nur provisorisch... deshalb übertrügen sie ihre Exekutive auf die Volksbeauftragten.  Die Souveränität haben sie nicht übertragen, wohl aber die Vollzugsgewalt."
  Ebert's aide, Baake, gave an example out of which he drew "Sie haben diese Staatsmacht an die Volksbeauftragten abgetreten und müssen unter allen Umständen hüten, selbständige Eingriffe in die Maschinerie vorzunehmen."  Haase agreed that the workers' and soldiers' councils represented the source of power, yet added "Solange aber die Arbeiter-und Soldatenräte dieser Regierung ihr Vertrauen schenken, darf von anderer Seit nicht in ihre Verwaltungsmaßnahmen eingegriffen werden, sonst kommt der ganze Organismus zum Stehen."
  The committee's results confirmed that the right of control and dismissal of the cabinet as well as consultation on cabinet "experts" lay with the workers’ and soldiers' councils, but "executive" powers had been transferred to the cabinet.  Practice, not theory and legal formulations, would have to decide what this meant.


As this struggle with the Berlin Vollzungsrat escalated and then subsided, Ebert and Scheidemann actively promoted their version of immediate priorities.  On November 12 one of Ebert's close associates had written to Paul Löbe in Breslau asking that demonstrations and manifestos for the immediate calling of the constituent assembly be undertaken.
  The unions' support was assured by November 14 and as indicated above Ebert gave a press statement on November 15, 1918: "Wir haben bereits die erste Vorbereitungen getroffen und denken bestimmt im Januar zu den Wahlen zu gelangen."
  On November 15 Vorwärts published Scheidemann's article arguing why the assembly had to be called: "Sie muß die deutsche Republik nach außen hin verhandlungsfähig und nach innen, nach der wirtschaftlichen Seite hin, geschäftsfähig machen."  To obtain a preliminary peace, internal consolidation was necessary because the Entente would carry out threats "ein terroristisch beherrschtes Deutschland mit Waffengewalt besetzen zu wollen."  Internally the constituent assembly was necessary to improve material circumstances.  Was this a coordinated campaign to use the desire for peace and Entente concerns about stability as a means to attain an early vote?  How much the officials of the foreign office and leading Social Democrats cooperated in trying to influence public opinion is not clear.
  Ledebour and Richard Müller immediately protested the idea that elections should be seen as the government's priority.
  Rosa Luxemburg even proclaimed this focus the beginnings of counter-revolution in Rote Fahne on November 18.


On the same day Ebert gave an interview to the transocean nachrichtendienst in which he claimed "die vorübergehend gespaltenen Teile der alten sozialistischen Partei sind wieder vereinigt, beide Gruppen sind bemüht die gemeinsame Arbeit zu fördern, so ist das bestehen einer handlungsfähigen gefestigten provisorischen Regierung gesichtert."
  On the question of this government's tasks he said "unsere wichtigste Aufgabe ist dem deutschen Volk Frieden und Brot zu schaffen.  Damit wir das aber können, brauchen wir Ordnung und Freiheit... Es gilt in das plotzlich entstandene Chaos übersichlich Koordination zu bringen." He gave two reasons progress existed despite the threat from a few putschists: the discipline of the revolutionaries and the cooperation with the officials.  If, as some historians claim, Ebert gave such interviews and worked with Solf and ambassadors to put out information to influence the Entente he would hardly have pointed out: "dass der frühere Kriegsminister Scheuch mit den bevollmächtigten der provisorischen Regierung zusammen amtiert und das sogar die berliner Polizeikorps...sich uns zur Verfügung gestellt hat."  Ebert thought order was being maintained and the two socialist parties cooperating.


Two issues which the cabinet members considered at mid-November gave grounds for this belief.  One related to the Soviet Union.  When Radek began to send radio messages appealing for aid against the Entente's intervention in the Russian civil war, Haase suggested delay and he offered reports from German embassies which proposed that the Entente would be conciliatory in peace negotiations and food supplies if the Ebert government continued, whereas if Bolschewism increased then the provisional goverment would interfere with all its means.  Kautsky too counselled delay and Barth announced Liebknecht and Luxemburg had acceded because "die linkstehenden Kreise müßten sich den unabänderlichen Tatsachen unterwerfen."
  In foreign affairs the cabinet further agreed not to appeal solely to Wilson and to remove two "ungeeignete" undersecretaries. 


The second issue on which the cabinet seemed unitary related to addressing the social consequences of war.  Barth had proposed a discussion on this topic on November 19 and Ebert led the meeting with state secretaries on November 21.  To convert war industries proved difficult, Koeth reported, because no orders from private sources existed to substitute for the state's demands.  Some armaments production had to continue so as to not increase unemployment.  When Barth asked about the possibilities of rural work Koeth's response referred to the employers' uncertainty due to fear of sozialization.  Ebert reassured him that the cabinet had only agreed to the socialization of firms which were "reif" and its decision of November 18 included review by a commission which included bourgeois experts.
  No experiments would be allowed, a statement with which Haase agreed fully.  Bauer however demanded an end to "Schwätzerei von der sofortigen Vergesellschaftlichung ... sonst bekommen wir russische Zustände."
  This dismissal hinted at the employer-unions' agreement which the cabinet had confirmed.  Finally the cabinet considered proposals for housing and canal construction.  Ebert ended the discussion by suggesting that the demobilization office under Koeth examine the proposals and try to create work.  


However, on one issue significant differences within the cabinet became evident. The cabinet heard the views of experts on November 21 with regard to obtaining coal and protecting the mining areas in Upper Silesia from Polish insurgents.  One suggested sending troops.  Haase thought that would provoke the Poles as well as the Entente.  Ebert estimated one possible set of troops might arrive in three weeks, others were not available but "ein Schutz muß geschaffen werden."
  He hoped for a peaceful resolution, but thought it necessary to make preparations by creating citizens' units combined with workers' and soldiers' councils cooperating with the military.  When Barth and Haase in very strong terms opposed creating such a Heimatschutz Ebert suggested negotiating once more with the war minister on how to create protection.  The cabinet formulated no resolution except sending someone to investigate.  In his diary, however, Ebert noted: "Barth und Haase bekämpfen den Vorschlag [Eberts für einen Heimatschutz]. Landsberg und Bauer treten für ihn ein.  Beschlossen: Friedliche Verständigung anstreben, wenn sie scheitert, soll Oberschliesen militärisch gesichert werden."
  What appeared unclear or as a minor difference--in this instance Ebert drew an unwarranted conclusion from the debate--could have momentous consequences.

  
The cabinet seemed to function in a collegial manner, having resolved the authority issue with the Vollzugsrat, foreign relations and made a start on social problems.  They also agreed to Ebert's proposal for a warm greeting to returning troops which Scheidemann drafted for publication on November 22.


When political differences disturbed the becalmed waters, by the contrary declarations on the constituent assembly from Scheidemann and Richard Müller, the cabinet tangentially discussed them.  No resolutions emerged which meant some crucial matters were being papered over in the rush to handle the consequences of war and peace making.  Occasionally the questionable activities of a general would be noticed and a dismissal take place, or Erzberger's press influence questioned, but generally the cabinet marched along its social reform course.
  In mid-November the revolution seemed over and counter revolution not a problem.  Ebert informed the cabinet that Hindenburg and Groener had given their word of honor about not planning against the revolution, though the decree to troops in the Ukraine needed to be examined.
  Berlin, where these issues ran through the chancellery and ministries, however, cannot be equated with the Reich which experienced a varient revolution made by councils and socialist parties.


The political revolution had begun in the periphery and been consummated in Berlin.  The events in the other centers ran parllel similar, except that in some SPD-USPD governments, as in Bavaria and Bremen, the USPD led and directly cooperated with workers' and soldiers' councils.  The Reich cabinet had immediately agreed to consult with the Prussian government on all important matters.  The cabinet even agreed to leave the upper house as a means to assure contact with the states.  By mid-November some states claimed that the Reich government had no basis for which to make decisions which affected them.
  Haase suggested, and the cabinet agreed on November 20, to call a conference of the states.
  On November 22 the list of those to be invited and the agenda were ready.
  In addition to the cabinet, representatives of the states, the eight state secretaries and with Beigeordneter plus Vollzugsrat representatives, some 110 persons were invited.  After reports by the cabinet the state secretaries were to give short reports on what had been done and their intentions.  


Ebert revealed his perspectives on what had happened during the revolution and what he hoped would happen when he opened this conference.  He painted a catastrophic situation of an economic collapse as well as a military one: "Als wir die politische Macht...übernahmen, standen wir vor einem Trümmerhaufen..."

The "demokratisch-sozialistische Republik" was founded on the power of the representatives from the workers and soldiers who had passed executive powers to the cabinet, Ebert stated in keeping with the cabinet-Vollzugsrat agreement.  Peace and recreation of economic life were the next aims.  He applauded the armistice commission's work, but noted that women and children bore the burden of a continued blockade.  Part of his statement aimed at workers to use the new freedoms to work and to notice what social measures had been initiated.  The tenure of his remarks advocated calm and acceptance of the fact that some issues such as inter-governmental relations had to be decided by the national assembly for which election preparations were underway. 


Eisner (Bavaria) and Lipinski (Braunschweig), representing USPD-led governments, wanted a discussion on the political situation but Ebert had his way.  Hence, the state secretaries gave reports on theirareas. Solf explicitly stated he had created his report at Ebert's instructions. Despite the cabinet having agreed to treat the Entente as a unit, Solf immediately declared that he banked on Wilson as the only honest pacific opponent who might limit the imperialism of Germany's enemies.  In his view the US populace favored the harsh armistice as the means to destroy Prussian militarism.  In contrast to Ebert's opening statement Solf asserted the US opposed a socialistic republic.  Food supplies depended upon maintaining order and having a majority of the populace behind the government.  A note from Wilson had just been received which explicitly stated food would only be given if guarantees existed that public order could be maintained.  Solf judged Britain to be chauvinistic, but it too would make peace only with a government based on majority rule.  France remained Germany's worst enemy and intended to delay peace to foster unrest and internal divisions.  Solf similarly reviewed relations to Poland, Ukraine and Russia.  On the latter he had gathered extensive information relating to the question of peace and Bolshevism and offered it to the delegates.
  He launched into an anti-workers' and soldiers' councils tirade under the cover of demonstrating separatist tendencies aided by France.  That Haase did not control the foreign office and that Solf had not reviewed this statement with him became evident when Solf made three demands: 1) the power of the Reich to be absolute 2) foreign relations to be a Reich matter and not influenced by the states or councils 3) a national assembly had to be elected as soon as possible and the present situation declared provisional.

      A whole political program had been enunciated by a consulting 'expert'.  In a letter to Ebert on the day previously, Solf had made many of the same claims in even stronger language.
 Solf's patriotic intentions may have harbored no reactionary purposes, and his contribution to Prince Max government's attempt to attain peace and to remove the Kaiser must be acknowledged.
  But, as one adviser wrote Erzberger soon after the conference, Solf had during the war guided an annexationist colonial policy and his presence hardly helped in dealing with the Entente.  This person suggested to Erzberger that if Solf were sacrificed it might save others who were also on the USPD list of those too closely associated with the old regime, namely Erzberger, Scheidemann and David.
  After Ebert's death Solf privately accused Ebert of encouraging him to provoke Haase while at the crucial moment leaving him in the lurch.
  Ebert's cooperation with the old bureaucracy here bred ominous results.


The debate following Solf's and Erzberger's presentations is reminiscent of SPD wartime caucus and council meetings with a few new USPD names added to Lipinski's and Ledebour's.  Erzberger had not repeated Solf's error.  He reiterated what he had presented to the cabinet on November 16, and added that carrying out the armistice terms proceeded fairly well.  About allowing in food stuffs the French were reconsidering.  However, Eisner did not spare Erzberger in his counterattack, for in his view Erzberger had poisoned public opinion during the war, while Solf mismanaged peace negotiations by setting Wilson above his allies.  Eisner wanted Zimmermann, Jagow and others arrested.  The new government had to promote a "demokratische und sozialistische Politik".  Eisner's proposals and Lipinski's personalized attacks on Ebert, plus the contradictory claims about Solf, demonstrated that all were back on the merry go round of accusations which had led to the SPD-USPD wartime split.  Ebert tried to answer after Eisner added Hindenburg to his list of incriminated.  In Ebert's view the situation made it imperative to rely on the state secretaries.  He defended Solf for having favored a conciliatory peace throughout the war.  In addition, Erzberger could not have been removed from the armistice commission because he had all the threads in his hands at the crucial moment.  Ebert emphasized his gratefulness to both.  His review on these officials and cabinet endeavors ended "Nichts ist versäumt! Wir haben gehandelt."  At the end of the conference Ebert drew the results together and an observer commented: "Mit geradezu erstaunlicher Geschicklichkeit und Gewandheit verstand es Ebert, die allgemeine Zustimmung der Versammlung zu diesem Resumée gewissermassen mit einer Art diktatorischen Vergewaltigung oder mit einer Art suggestiven Willensbeeinlussung herbeizuführen.  Auf dem Gebiet der Massenbeeinlussung war Ebert durch seine langjährige Erfahrung als Leiter von Volksversammlungen ein wahrer Meister."


Two fundamental differences surfaced in these discussions.  The Social Democrats wanted to elect a national assembly as soon as possible and they wanted credit for having worked hard at managing Reich affairs.  At this conference Ebert succeeded at getting the great majority of the states to support immediate elections and unity of the country.  The Independents, who wanted greater powers to reside with the workers' and soldiers' councils through which socialization would begin and bourgeois' influence restricted, had failed to enunciate a clear programme.


The first phase of the revolution had driven the SPD and USPD leaders in Berlin together to resolve pressing issues.  In other parts of the Reich the states were not faced with the same problems of international relations (armistice, legitimacy for making peace) and military might, and so the workers' and soldiers' councils could participate more directly in the administration.
  The street fighting and the threat of civil war lacked the same intensity as those that had driven Ebert and Haase, Scheidemann and Barth to make common cause.  Now the compromises made in Berlin on November 9/10 underwent questioning, in particular, whether certain people remained acceptable as leaders and what were the revolutionary priorities.  At the Reichskonferenz Haase spoke against Scheidemann's conception of the councils and opposed an early date for the national assembly. He maintained that Solf's speech would not help peace and he wanted it known that some press releases came out of the foreign office without his participation. 


 Ebert knew that Solf had to depart after his faut pax and Haase's revelations.  On December 4 the cabinet discussed under what conditions Solf might stay.  They included "seine Noten in Zukunft dem Kabinett vorher vorzulegen,"
  which it was known he would not accept.  On the same day Ebert informed Eisner that the cabinet worked on a replacement.
  


The Reichskonferenz demonstrated that behind the veil of unity in the cabinet, suspicions and differences based on personal experience from wartime fights as well as about priorities had not disappeared.  Those clouds would not be swept away but unload a darker phase of the revolution, because during the first phase Ebert and his colleagues had wanted to, and had been forced to, work with both the Independents and the old authorities.  The balancing act between two irreconcilable and diverging tendencies came under increasing pressure from both sides.  Ebert tried to avoid deciding with which he was going, though war and armistice had predisposed him toward the experts.

  
The Reichskonferenz had reopened wounds and the fight over the date of the elections on November 29 deepened them.  The two parties could agree on minor issues, such as recalling Stinnes and Marx from the armistice commission and finalizing the dissolution of the Reichstag.
  Yet, the trust of the first days disappeared.  Ebert and his SPD cabinet colleagues, as opposed to the USPD representatives, had always wanted an early date for the constituent assembly.  Ebert sought legitimization by an elected assembly because he assumed it crucial to obtaining peace and because he knew the support of the bourgeois experts could only be retained in the long run by a government which had been elected as opposed to one created from the streets.  He had promised the assembly when he took power from Prince Max.
  


In the first weeks of the revolution the discussions over the date of the assembly hinted at the different conceptions held by the SPD versus the USPD leaders on the meaning and course of the revolution.  The USPD thought the issue "erst nach der Konsolidierung der durch die Revolution geschaffenen Zustände aktuell..."
  The Independents knew they needed time to organize and broaden their base of support.  What the two parties could easily agree upon included that all elections would be on the basis of a proportional electoral system "nach dem gleichen, geheimen, direkten, allgemeinen Wahlrecht" by men and women of twenty years of age.
 

 
Ebert's choice of secretary for the interior, Preuß, received his appointment on November 15 and assigned the task of organizing the election and working on a draft for a constitution.  As shown above Ebert and Scheidemann campaigned intensively for early elections.  By November 26 a draft electoral law was ready for discussion by the cabinet. Preuß suggested February 2 would work but because of peace negotiations and economic aid an earlier date, January 19, preferable and technically possible.  On November 29 Preuß reported that he had consulted with the states' representatives and all favored the quick calling of an assembly. After the experts had commented the USPD cabinet members all opposed setting a date.  Their arguments included troops not being back to vote, the possibility that the Entente might demand a different date, the need to let the general meeting of councils decide and that an early date might result in the separation of parts of the Reich.
  Ebert countered that the populace wanted an assembly and he proposed February 2 with confirmation at the council congress.  Landsberg threatened that the SPD would resign if a date were not set by the next day.
  A compromise of February 16 emerged, but the SPD leaders still hoped to move the date forward.  The threat by the SPD leaders on the election date occurred one day after the USPD cabinet members refused to condemn a Munich workers' and soldiers' council motion demanding David's and Scheidemann's removal from the government. 


Two days after the Reichkonferenz Ebert asserted to the SPD federal council: "Nun sind Bestrebungen im Gange eine Regierung Haase-Liebknecht einzusetzen und die Vertreter unserer Partei aus der Regierung herauszudrängen."
  He referred to the resolution of the Munich councils against Scheidemann and David.  Ebert insisted that membership in the cabinet be based on the original agreement between the parties.  Yet, the Independent leaders had refused to support a resolution against the Munich councils' demands:  "Der Versuch, den einen oder den anderen von ihnen aus der Regierung zu entfernen, muß daher die Abmachung der beiden Parteien erschüttern."  Ebert noted further that despite the agreement with the Vollzugsrat interference by councils in the governing process continued and it had to end.  Ebert's distrust of the USPD received reinforcement by the way he saw the councils as meddlers.  


The wartime mutual distrust had been revived on both sides by the Reichskonferenz, the manoeuvring on the date for the national assembly elections, the refusal of the Independents to adhere to the agreement by which each party chose its representatives, plus the divergent attitudes toward the councils in theory and practice.


At the end of November and the beginning of December a new phase to the revolution began.  It would end in putsch attempts, artillery fire in central Berlin and civil war in January.  Ebert, who wanted to avoid bloodshed and civil war, helped lay the basis for a forceful outcome by trying to negotiate through the middle, an approach at which he nearly succeeded.


Notes

�.Theodor Wolff in Berliner Tageblatt 10 November 1918.


�.At the end of February when another wave of radicalization was underway an insightful observer wrote: " ....Es ist Lebensfrage, daß die Mehrheitssozialdemokraten sich, wie bei der ersten Revolution am 9.XI, so auch bei dieser 2. Revolution, im richtigen Augenblick entschliesst sich auf den Boden der Revolution einzustellen, sie in der Hand zu bekommen, und im geordneten Bahn zu halten - sonst habe wir dem Bolshewsimus. Aber das ist sehr schwierig, weil es unter Presigabe der bisherigen Führer geschehen muß, und Ersatz für sie kaum vorhanden ist." Radbruch to his father 28 February 1919, Stadtarchiv Heidelberg NL Radbruch III, 69.


�.DZA Reichskanzlei 2479, 85 copy of Ebert to Schmidthals 12 November 1918.  Schmidthals would have been known to Ebert through Ebert's wartime work in the Ernahrungsprüfungsstelle where Schmidthals was Leiter der Nachrichtenstelle bei der Reichstelle für Gemüse und Obst.


�.Rvb I, lix ff, and Elber, Kontinuität, 94ff.


�.Printed in Ritter/Miller, Revolution(2), 102-103.


�.Deutsche Tageszeitung Nr. 583, 15 November 1918 entitled "Der Reichskanzler [sic!] im Arbeiter-und Soldatenrat".  The meeting ended with the threat that if Liebknecht "seine Agitation in den Kasern fortsetzen sollte, [ihn] an die Luft zu setzen."  Compare report from Berliner Lokal-Anzeiger reprinted in Buchner, Revolutionsdokumente, 221-22: "Die Demobilisierung muß sich schnell und glatt abwickeln, damit unsere Lebensmittelversorgung und unsere Industrie nich zusammenbricht."  He wanted food and employment possibilities created at train stations, for which he had the workers' and soldiers' councils in mind.
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�.Rvb I, 64-66. Mann (Reichs-Marineamts): "Aber der Soldatenrat kann in diesen Dingen nicht mit regieren...; Wurm (Ernahrung): "Überall gehen die Arbeiter-und Soldatenräte dazu über, was sie erreichen können, einfach zu beschlagnahmen. Dadurch wird natürlich unsere Lebensmittel-versorgung im höchsten Grade gefährdet."


�.Notes in Ebert, Schriften II, 104.


�.Rvb I, 71.
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�.Rvb I, 97, 136-7; Müller became known as Leichen-Müller because he claimed on 19 November the assembly would come only over his dead body.


�.Copy in Bayerisches Hauptstaatsarchiv Munchen Abt II Bestand MA I 980. Interview taken up by fernschreiber 18 November 1.45.


�.Rvb I, 100.  When Nadolny pointed out that the Vollzugsrat declaration in favor of Russian workers' and soldiers' councils worked against Germany and that the Vollzugsrat should give a new declaration "zu den auswärtigen Dingen", Barth said it had agreed "zu den russischen Dingen... wiederspruchslos."  This cabinet discussion questions Kolb's argument in "Internationale Rahmenbedingungen" because Haase pointed out press and official reports had to be differentiated; two official American statements from Bern and two English ones had been received.  However, Haase himself proposed delaying contact with the Soviets on the basis of the reports that the Entente would "der gegenwärtig bürgerlich-sozialistischen Republik Entgegenkommen in der Friedensbedingungen und Lieferungen von Lebensmitteln zu zeigen, falls und so lange die Reigerung in der gegenwärtigen Zusammensetzung unter Ebert bestehen bleibt; gegenüber einem Anwachsen des Bolschewismus würde sie jedoch sofort mit allen Mitteln einschreiten.  Schon die Rückkehr Joffes würde genügen, um die Situation für den Frieden zu verändern." (98-99) 


�.Rvb I, 104 for proposed and final list.


�.Rvb I, 115.


�.Rvb I, 120.


�.Ebert, Schriften II, 108.


�.Printed in Ebert, Schriften II, 101-102.  The text is significant because it emphasizes "alles ist im Werden, ist zum Teil schon Gesetz" and the government was founded on the trust of workers and soldiers.  Not a word about the national aseembly meant that Scheidemann too had learned from the Independents' opposition.


�.Rvb I, 102, 136-137 (re Stumm, Bussche and Erzberger).


�.Rvb I, 111 and 143 and Ebert, Schriften II, 106-108.


�.Complaint by Hesse government and Ebert's response on behalf of the cabinet reprinted in Ritter/Miller, Revolution (2), 199.  The Hesse government worried about the Ausschaltung of the Lander by decrees and wanted the national assembly called.  Ebert referred to the proposed conference and denied that any dictatorship by a single state was intended but that the government intended to create democracy via a constituent assembly.  In his letter Ebert emphasized that the conference was the cabinet's way of showing it wanted to cooperate rather than impose "Sie [new government] sieht in der National Versammlung ebenfalls das vornehmste Mittel zur Erreichung dieses Ziels.  Sie strebt nicht nach der Diktatur einer Stadt oder eines Bundesstaates, sondern nach der solidarischen Demokratie eines einheitlichen Deutschlands." Printed and attacked in Rote Fahne Nr. 9, 24 November 1918.


�.Rvb I, 110.


�.Rvb I, 124; Ebert and his staff seem to have undertaken this.


�.Text in Rvb I, 152ff


�.Copy in BA NL Solf 59, 134-140 with 23 examples from Entente statements about no dealings if Bolshevism increased.


�.BA NL Erzberger 49 I; copy of Solf to Ebert 24 November 1918 (also in NL Solf 59, 130-133).  The pattern of the letter was different than the speech but the attack on France, on the workers's and soldiers' councils and the fear of separatism, the same.  He pointed out that he had followed Ebert's appeal to stay in office and he and officials had loyally worked "den Frieden schnellstens herbeizuführen und die Einheit des Reiches zu retten. Ich bin außer Stande einer Vernichtung jeder Friedensausschicht und ohne Appell an den Volk zuzusehen, dessen überwältigende Mehrheit eine solche Entwicklung ablehnt."  Already on 17 November Solf had written Ebert demanding assertive leadership by the Reich by which he meant national assembly elections on 15 January and cabinet directives to the Länder not to meddle in foreign affairs.


�.Whether Solf's memorandum and letters received their addressee is not certain but on 9 June 1917 he had written the Kaiser stating a thorough Prussian electoral reform was an immediate necessity BA NL Solf 54, 95; and on 8 November 1918 he telegraphed the Kaiser asking him to abdicate to save the country from military dictatorship and Entente occupation. "Die Mehrheitssozialisten können und wollen den Unabhängigen die Alleinherrschaft über die Massen nicht lassen. Von Eurer Majestät sofortigen Entschluß hängt es einzig und allein aab, ob der Bürgerkrieg zu vermeiden ist." BA NL Solf 58, 88. 


�.BA NL Erzberger 41, Goldberg to Erzberger, 28 November 1918.


�.BA NL Solf 75, speech of 28 August 1926.


�.BA NL Haeften N35/6, 120.  He thought "Jedenfalls ist Eberts staatsmannisches Verdienst um das Reich an jenem Tage nicht hoch genung zu schätzen."


�.See for example P. Brandt and R. Rürup, Volksbewegung und demokratische Neuordnung in Baden 1918/19 (Sigmaringen, 1991), 73ff.


�.Rvb I, 254.


�.DZA Reichskanzlei 2481/1, 65.


�.Rvb I, 242, 382-3; together with Solf's removal these actions illustrate that Ebert was neither prepared to accept the bourgeois' nor the military's demands and approach on all issues.


�."Die neue Regierung wird sich für die Wahlen zu einer konstituierenden Nationalversammlung organisiern...Sie wird sodann ihre Machtbefügnisse in die Hände der neuen Vertretung des Volkes zurücklegen" proclaimed the Aufruf signed by Ebert, Scheidemann and Landsberg on 9. November 1918, quoted in Rvb I, xxxiii, note 15.


�.Rvb I, 31 (response of USPD to SPD 10 November 1918); also 78, 82, 94 (regarding rights of Vollzugsrat to be consulted on date).


�.Rvb I, 38; proclamation of 12 November 1918.


�.Rvb I, 227.


�.See Scheidemann's diary entry for 29 November 1918 reprinted in Rvb I, clxxiv-v.


�.Dowe PA I, 616-17.





